SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR - 2 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Эe	p	į	Ê	t	ė

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,)	Supreme Court No.
)	S228193
Plaintiff and Respondent,)	
)	(Court of Appeal No.
v.)	D066684)
)	
RUTHETTA LOIS HOPSON,)	(Superior Court No.
)	RIF1105594)
Defendant and Appellant.)	
	·	
APPELLANT'S OPENING B	RIEF ON	THE MERITS

GORDON S. BROWNELL, ESQ. State Bar No. 99392
1241 Adams Street, # 1139
St. Helena, CA 94574
Email: gsbrownell@aol.com
Telephone: (707) 942-4565

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant RUTHETTA LOIS HOPSON

By Appointment of the Supreme Court under the Appellate Defenders, Inc. Assisted Case System

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

By its order dated October 14, 2015, this court has ordered that the issue to be briefed and argued in this case is limited to the following:

Was defendant's right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment violated when the trial court permitted the prosecution to introduce out-of-court statements made by her deceased codefendant?

(Order Granting Review, Oct. 14, 2015.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 2, 2012, the Riverside County District Attorney filed a onecount felony information charging appellant Ruthetta Lois Hopson with the deliberate and premeditated murder of Laverna B., in violation of Penal Code

section 187, subdivision (a). (1 CT 51-52.)¹ The information further alleged that Ms. Hopson committed the murder while lying in wait (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(15)) and while she was engaged in the commission or attempted commission of robbery (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(17)(A)). (1 CT 51-52.)²

This matter proceeded to jury trial. (1 CT 104.) The jury found Ms. Hopson guilty of first degree murder and found both special circumstances to be true. (2 CT 355-359.) On April 26, 2013, the trial court denied probation and sentenced Ms. Hopson to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. (2 CT 420-421, 441-443.)

On May 1, 2013, Ms. Hopson filed her timely notice of appeal. (2 CT 444-445.) On June 24, 2015, in an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal (Fourth Appellate District, Division One) affirmed the judgment. (Opinion, D066684 (hereafter "Opn.").)

On October 14, 2015, this court granted review and limited the issue to be briefed and argued as specified in the Statement of the Issue (ante, p. 1).

Except as noted, all statutory references are to the Penal Code.

Although the information also charged an enhancement under section 12022, subdivision (b)(1), for personally using a deadly and dangerous weapon, to wit, a machete/knife (CT 51), that enhancement was not presented to the jury. The original complaint had charged codefendant Julius Thomas, who later died, with the same premeditated murder and special allegations. (1 CT 1.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prosecution Case-in-Chief Evidence

1. The Residents of the House on Gedney Way

Laverna Brown was a 66-year-old registered nurse who, in October 2011, was living at 11530 Gedney Way in Riverside. (2 CT 176-177; 1 RT 57-58.)³ Ms. Brown rented a room there from Darcy Timm, who lived in the back of the house and rented three rooms to traveling nurses. (1 RT 57-59, 66-67.) Ms. Hopson, a 39-year-old nurse's aide who worked for a company that contracted nursing services, was also living at Timm's house then. (2 CT 164-167, 177; 1 RT 58-59.) Ms. Hopson had trouble paying her rent and had given Timm notice that she planned to move at the end of October. (1 RT 63-64.)

2. The Events of October 28th

On Friday, October 28th, Ms. Brown was scheduled to take a 6:45 a.m. flight from California to Georgia to visit her son. (1 RT 32-33.) Ms. Brown did not arrive in Georgia as scheduled and her family learned that Ms. Brown had not arrived to take her flight that morning. (1 RT 34.)

Timm woke up around 5:15 a.m. that day to do laundry in the garage of her home, before she left for work. (1 RT 70-71.) When Timm went to the

³ Unless otherwise specified, all relevant events occurred on or about October 28 and 29, 2011.

garage, she noticed that it was "askew" and that a machete she kept there was missing, but its sheath was there; she also noticed that a large butcher knife was missing from the kitchen. (1 RT 47, 72-73.)

Though Timm had thought Ms. Hopson was sleeping, Ms. Hopson suddenly came into the house. (1 RT 73-75.) Ms. Hopson told Timm that she was going to spend the day with her boyfriend, Julius Thomas, and that she was returning to the house to change her clothes. (1 RT 48, 75-78, 80-81, 101-102.) It was around 5:45 a.m. and still dark, but Timm could see Thomas's car parked outside her house. (1 RT 76-78, 82.)

Timm asked Ms. Hopson about the missing knife and machete and Ms. Hopson said that she did not know anything about them. (1 RT 75-77.) Sometime after that, while Timm was getting ready for work, Ms. Hopson came to the door of Timm's suite and said that she had spilled Coke on the side of the garage and had hosed it down. (1 RT 80-82.) Ms. Hopson was at the house for 10 or 15 minutes and then was gone again. (1 RT 80.)

Shortly thereafter, before leaving for work, Timm found a blood-soaked blanket in what she called "Ruthetta's trash can" in the garage (1 RT 83-85.) Timm immediately called 911 and reported that she had a machete and a knife missing and had found "a newly soaked blanket of blood." (1 RT 86-87.) Riverside Police Officer Jorge Sepulveda responded, found the bloody blanket

in the garbage can, and observed what may have been bloody human or animal tissue on the walkway outside the house; there was no evidence of a break-in or forced entry. (1 RT 40-46.)⁴ Timm gave Sepulveda the telephone numbers for Ms. Hopson and Thomas. (1 RT 48-49.)

Timm called Ms. Hopson several times while Sepulveda was at her house, but was unable to reach her. (1 RT 48, 87-88.) When Timm and Ms. Hopson finally talked, sometime around 8:30 a.m., Timm again asked about the missing knife and machete, and Ms. Hopson still had no explanation; Timm did not say anything about finding the bloody blanket or calling the police. (1 RT 87-88.) Ms. Hopson did say she had moved things around in the garage and also said that she and Thomas had seen a long-haired, homeless man lurking around the neighborhood that night. (1 RT 88-89.)

Timm went to work and returned home about 5:00 p.m. (1 RT 90.) When she opened the garage, she saw Ms. Hopson standing inside. (1 RT 90-91.) Ms. Hopson approached her and said she had washed down the side of the house again. (1 RT 91.) As Ms. Hopson was talking, the phone rang, and Timm went inside the house to answer it. (1 RT 92.) It was Mistie Williamson, Ms. Brown's daughter, who was alarmed and "hysterical," telling

⁴ Except as noted, all law enforcement personnel referenced in this factual summary worked for the Riverside Police Department.

Timm that her mother could not be located. (1 RT 35-36, 92-93.) Timm told Mistie that her mother's room was in order and her van was gone. (1 RT 36.)

While Timm was talking with Mistie, Ms. Hopson followed Timm around the house, listening to the conversation. (1 RT 92-95.) When the phone call ended, Timm went back to the driveway to wash her car. (1 RT 95.) Ms. Hopson told Timm that Thomas would be picking her up to take her to work. (1 RT 95-96.) Thomas drove up and parked while Ms. Hopson was inside, and Timm spoke with him briefly. (1 RT 96.) Timm was very scared, and when Ms. Hopson and Thomas drove away, Timm called 911 again. (1 RT 96-97.)

In the second 911 call, Timm informed the dispatcher what had happened that day and explained that Laverna Brown's family had called and reported that Ms. Brown never got on her flight to Georgia and was missing. (1 CT 99-101) Timm told the dispatcher, "there's something going on at my house that's really bad" and "I am scared to death." (1 CT 101-102.)

Officer Jayson Jahinian came to Timm's home in response to the second 911 call. (1 RT 103-105.) Before he arrived at the house, Jahinian had spoken on the phone with Mistie Williamson, who provided information regarding her missing mother. (1 RT 104-105.) Jahinian learned from Timm about "the third roommate, Ms. Hopson," and went to the hospital where she was working to speak with her. (1 RT 106-107.)

Officer Jahinian arrived at the hospital around 8:00 p.m. and spoke with Ms. Hopson about Laverna Brown's disappearance. (1 RT 107-109.) Ms. Hopson explained her activities during the hours when Laverna Brown went missing; during most of that time, Ms. Hopson said, she was not at the Timm residence. (1 CT 78-88, 107-112.)⁵

Ms. Hopson indicated shock that Ms. Brown did not make her airline flight and was missing. (1 CT 88.) Jahinian confronted Ms. Hopson about the bloody blanket found in the garage; Ms. Hopson told him that she had spilled a can of soda in the garage, and stated she hosed down the side of the garage, but said she had "no idea" that there was any blood there. (1 CT 89-92.)

Following that interview, Officer Jahinian spoke with his supervisor, Sergeant Warren, and told Warren that he "believed Ms. Hopson killed the victim and [Ms. Hopson] was lying to me and that the detectives needed to respond immediately." (1 RT 110-111.)

3. Forensic Evidence at Timm's Home

Around 12:10 a.m. on October 29th, Tim Ellis, a forensic technician, arrived at Timm's home, where he observed possible blood inside the trash can

Officer Jahinian's interview with Ms. Hopson was recorded, and a CD of that recording was played at trial and marked as People's Exhibit 156; a written transcript was marked as People's Exhibit 156A. (1 CT 74-97.)

and on the sidewalk; Ellis found a pair of blue rubber gloves and a pair of yellow gloves inside the trash can. (1 RT 115-117, 121-122, 126-127.)

Many areas in the garage, on the side of the house, and in the driveway had possible blood stains. (2 RT 167.) Selena McKay-Davis, another forensic technician, performed tests to determine if the various stains were blood. (2 RT 155-156, 159-162.) It appeared that something violent had happened in the garage. (2 RT 167.)

Lourdes Petersen, a California Department of Justice criminalist, examined the inside and outside of the garage and identified areas where blood may have been cleaned up. (2 RT 181-185, 194.) She determined that there was a large amount of possible blood in an area which had been hosed down and that there was a blood trail from the interior of the garage to the outside of the garage, where the trash cans were located. (2 RT 193-194.)

4. Ms. Hopson Is Interviewed at the Police Station

Detectives Rick Wheeler and Rick Cobb met with Ms. Hopson at the hospital after she had been interviewed by Officer Jahinian. (2 RT 250-253.) The detectives told Ms. Hopson they wanted to talk with her about Laverna

Brown and Ms. Hopson agreed to go to the police station, where she was interviewed around 2:00 or 3:00 a.m. on October 29th. (2 RT 253-254.)⁶

Detective Wheeler told Ms. Hopson that she was not under arrest, even though they were talking at the police station. (2 CT 170-171.) Detective Wheeler testified that, in the beginning of the interview, Ms. Hopson was "very open and seemed pretty easy to speak to for the most part." (2 RT 257.) As the interview went on and Wheeler asked her about matters such as the blood and the cleanup at Timm's house, her demeanor changed and she became "less bubbly . . . almost completely shut down." (2 RT 257-258.)

Ms. Hopson described Ms. Brown as "so nice," "awesome," and "really wonderful." (2 CT 172-173.) Ms. Hopson told the detectives that she had "chatted" with Ms. Brown on Thursday night and that Ms. Brown "seemed fine" and "very excited" about her trip. (2 CT 173, 187.)

Ms. Hopson woke up on Friday after her boyfriend texted her. (2 CT 199-200.) Thomas came over to the house around 2:00 or 2:30 Friday morning and Ms. Hopson and Thomas went outside by his car because he smokes. (2 CT 204-206.) While there, they saw some guy standing in front of a house

The recorded CDs of that interview were played at trial and marked as People's Exhibits 181 and 182. (1 RT 255-256.) The written transcript was marked as People's Exhibit 182A. (2 CT 162 to 303-1.)

smoking a cigarette; Ms. Hopson had seen him in the neighborhood a couple of days earlier and described it as "kind of weird." (2 CT 209.)

Ms. Hopson said that between 3:00 and 4:30 a.m., she and Thomas drove to a nearby park and parked on the street. (2 CT 214-215.) Around 4:30 a.m., they returned to the house, where Ms. Hopson got a different shirt; then they left and ended up at a McDonald's, before again returning to the house, around 6:00 or 6:30 a.m., so Ms. Hopson could change her clothes. (2 CT 216-220.)

Ms. Hopson said that when they returned that time, Ms. Brown's car was gone. (2 CT 220.) Ms. Hopson went inside, where she spoke with Timm, who was saying some "weird things" about items having been moved around in the garage and her missing machete and knife. (2 CT 222-227.) While Timm was talking about the missing machete, Ms. Hopson grabbed a Coke from the refrigerator in the garage. (2 CT 229-232.)

According to Ms. Hopson, as she was leaving the garage, she tripped and spilled her Coke "all over the place." (2 CT 232-233.) She asked Timm if there was a hose she could use to squirt down the area. (2 CT 233-234.) Ms. Hopson could tell the Coke had stained the ground, which she cleaned with the hose, before leaving with Thomas. (2 CT 235-236.)

Thomas, who had been parked outside the house, dropped Ms. Hopson off at a bus stop, and she did some shopping. (2 CT 236-238.) Timm had left

Ms. Hopson a couple of voice mails about things being moved in the garage and the missing machete. (2 CT 238-239.) While shopping, Ms. Hopson called Timm back. (2 CT 238.)

That afternoon, Ms. Hopson took the bus back to her house and arrived there around 2:30 p.m. (2 CT 257.) Everything seemed normal; she mopped the floor in the kitchen, vacuumed the living room rug, and went outside and again cleaned the area where she had spilled her soda. (2 CT 258-260.) Ms. Hopson went to bed for a couple of hours, then got up and got ready for work. (2 CT 263-264.) Around 5:30 p.m., after Timm had returned home, Thomas picked Ms. Hopson up and took her to work. (2 CT 265, 269.) Ms. Hopson was at work until the detectives picked her up there. (2 CT 270.)

Detective Wheeler told Ms. Hopson that no one had seen Ms. Brown since Thursday night and that Ms. Brown's car was missing, which was very shocking to Ms. Hopson. (2 CT 271-273.) Wheeler told Ms. Hopson that officers found some things in the area near where Ms. Hopson had been cleaning that raised "some major concerns." (2 CT 273.) When the officers told Ms. Hopson there was blood in the area she had cleaned twice that day, Ms. Hopson replied with comments like "Holy cow" and "Oh, my gosh." (2 CT 274-275.) When Detective Cobb said that someone had used the hose for a long time, Ms. Hopson denied doing that. (2 CT 296.)

Detective Wheeler told Ms. Hopson that officers found, in one of the garbage cans, a blanket with "a large amount of blood on it." (2 CT 275.) Wheeler believed the blood was Ms. Brown's, and the police were going to have it tested. (2 CT 277.) Ms. Hopson had no explanation for the bloody blanket or other evidence of blood in the area of the garage she had been hosing down and cleaning. (2 CT 275-277, 295-296.)

Detective Wheeler told Ms. Hopson that she had been referring to Ms. Brown in the past tense during the interview. (2 CT 294-295.) Detective Cobb noted she had said, "she was awesome." (2 CT 294.) Ms. Hopson said that she "didn't mean to" refer to Ms. Brown in the past tense. (2 CT 295.)⁷

In her earlier interview with Officer Jahinian, Ms. Hopson had identified her boyfriend as Julius Thomas, whom she described as a black man about 30 years old, about 6 feet 1 inch tall, and weighing 330 to 350 pounds, "just a big snugly Teddy Bear." (1 CT 90-91, 96.) Ms. Hopson the detectives that she loved Thomas and was not concerned about anything with him and that he "didn't do anything." (2 CT 297.)

Near the end of the interview, Detective Cobb asked Ms. Hopson, "What's bothering you, Ruth?" and Ms. Hopson replied, "Just this whole

Tedra Rutabana, a nurse assistant at the hospital where Ms. Hopson worked, testified that after Ms. Hopson had been interviewed there by the police, she was referring to Ms. Brown in the past tense. (2 RT 273-279.)

situation. . . . it sucks." (2 CT 296-297.) Ms. Hopson told the detectives that it sounded "like you already have me, like, tried and convicted," and Cobb told her, "I don't have you doing anything." (2 CT 303-1.)

5. Laverna Brown's Van and Body Are Found

At approximately 9:30 a.m. on October 29th, Detective Cobb contacted Verizon Wireless and requested a remote location for Julius Thomas's cell phone number, which cell phone companies are able to locate through a process called "pinging." (1 RT 113.) Cobb learned that the last time Thomas's cell phone was used within range of a cell tower was at 3:20 a.m. on October 29th, near 5850 Republic Street in Riverside. (1 RT 113-114.) Patrol officers were sent there to search for Laverna Brown's van, which was discovered in an empty parking lot in that area. (1 RT 114.)

Tim Ellis was called to process Ms. Brown's van, where he found "a female looking deceased laying the middle area of the van facedown." (1 RT 115, 127, 131.) Ellis thought the body might have been pulled into the van from the driver's side. (1 RT 132.) Detective Cobb searched the van and found Ms. Brown's suitcase, which contained women's clothing and toiletries, but no purse or cell phone. (1 RT 114.)

Parts of the van were swabbed for DNA. (1 RT 136-138.) DNA collected from the steering wheel of the van was a mixture from at least two

people. (2 RT 196.) The major DNA donor profile matched Laverna Brown; Ms. Hopson's DNA profile was included as a possible minor donor. (2 RT 196.) Both Julius Thomas and Darcy Timm were excluded as possible donors to the minor DNA. (2 RT 196-197.)

On October 31st, Dr. Joanna Young, a forensic pathologist, performed an autopsy on Ms. Brown's body. (1 RT 144-146.) Dr. Young determined that Ms. Brown died from a "[s]harp force injury of neck." (1 RT 151.) Ms. Brown's right carotid artery had been severed; both the esophagus and the trachea had been "completely severed" by some sharp instrument which cut open Ms. Brown's neck. (1 RT 149-150.) Ms. Brown's death was consistent with a death caused by the use of a machete or a butcher's knife. (1 RT 151.)

6. Cell Phone Records

Shawn Green, a crime analyst for the Riverside County District Attorney's Office, analyzed cell phone records obtained in this case and testified about calls and texts between Ms. Hopson's and Thomas's cell phones from October 27th to October 29th. (2 RT 213-221, 228.) In that three-day period, 33 calls were made on Ms. Hopson's phone to Thomas, and her phone received 28 calls from his. (2 RT 221-222.) Ms. Hopson sent 25 text messages to Thomas and received 13 messages from him. (2 RT 223-224.)

AND A CITY OF THE PROPERTY OF

At 1:49 a.m. on October 28th, there was a call from Thomas's cell phone to Ms. Hopson's cell phone which lasted over 11 minutes; then there was another call between those phones at 2:09 a.m. that lasted only 27 seconds. (2 RT 226-227.) Between 2:10 and 6:30 a.m., there was no activity on Ms. Hopson's phone. (2 RT 227-228.) At 7:16 a.m., there was a call from Thomas's phone to Ms. Hopson's phone that lasted a little more than four minutes. (2 RT 228-229.) Calls between the phones belonging to Thomas and Ms. Hopson continued that day. (2 RT 229-231.)

7. Julius Thomas

On November 1st, Detectives Cobb and Wheeler interviewed Julius Thomas. (2 RT 203-205.) After that interview, Thomas accompanied Cobb and Wheeler to two locations. (2 RT 205.) At the first location, where the detectives hoped to locate some clothing, the dumpster which was supposed to contain the clothing had been emptied by the time they arrived. (2 RT 205-207.) The second location was a fenced-off area next to a canal, where the detectives returned the following day and found a machete. (2 RT 172-175, 207-209.) The machete was processed for a possible blood stain on the blade and latent fingerprints. (2 RT 175, 177-179.) Swabs taken from the handle and the blade of the machete matched Laverna Brown's DNA profile. (2 RT 197.)

Thomas was jailed and became a codefendant in this case. (2 RT 248.)

Thomas committed suicide in his jail cell on December 15, 2011. (2 RT 248.)

As Detective Wheeler understood it, Thomas "hung himself." (2 RT 268.)

In the course of the jail investigation of Thomas's suicide, a letter dated December 10th from Ms. Hopson to Thomas was discovered. (2 RT 264.) Detective Wheeler read from the letter at trial. (2 RT 265-266.) Wheeler testified that the upper left part of the letter read, "'My love.' And then it says, 'I love you. I need you. I want you. I desire you. I miss you.'" (2 RT 265.) The letter continued:

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