In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S228193

v.

RUTHETTA LOIS HOPSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D066684 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF1105594 The Honorable Jeffrey J. Prevost, Judge

MAY **2 3** 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

accomplice's out-of-court statements for their truth. In this scenario, the prosecutor can introduce the accomplice's inconsistent out-of-court statements for the nonhearsay purpose of impeachment.

In sum, appellant cites three inapplicable cases that are not from either the United States Supreme Court or the California Supreme Court. Sound or not, the reasoning in these cases is of limited, if any, utility to the question in this case.

D. Appellant Opened the Door to Hearsay Use of Thomas's Police Statements

Even if the Court were to determine that the introduction of Thomas's police statements crossed the line from nonhearsay into hearsay, it should still hold that there was no violation of appellant's right of confrontation. Multiple courts have concluded that a defendant's trial strategy can open the door to the admission of evidence that the confrontation clause would normally bar. This Court should hold likewise, and find that appellant opened the Sixth Amendment door here.

1. There is a growing consensus of cases holding that a defendant can open the door to evidence that the confrontation clause would otherwise preclude

The Court of Appeal analyzed this issue through the prism of *People v. Reid* (N.Y. 2012) 971 N.E.2d 353 (*Reid*). (Opn. at pp. 32-33, 37.) *Reid* "raises the question whether a defendant can open the door to the admission of testimony that would otherwise be inadmissible under the Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution." (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at p. 354.) "We hold that he can, and, in this case, he did." (*Ibid*.)

In *Reid*, the defendant (Reid) and his accomplice (Joseph) were charged with shooting a man to death. (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at p. 354.) Joseph confessed that he and Reid committed the crime together. (*Ibid*.)

A theme of Reid's defense at trial was that the police investigation was inadequate. (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at p. 355.) Reid's counsel developed this theme through questioning of some of the witnesses.

Specifically, the prosecutor called a witness who testified that Reid told him that he was with Joseph and another person (McFarland) the night of the shooting. (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at p. 355.) Reid's counsel elicited from this witness that the police had not arrested McFarland. (*Ibid*.) Likewise, Reid's counsel got an investigating detective to admit that he received information of McFarland's potential involvement from multiple sources. (*Ibid*.)

In response, the prosecutor had the detective confirm that an "eye witness" – who could only be Joseph – told him that McFarland was definitely not there during the shooting. (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at pp. 355-356.) Reid objected that this violated his right of confrontation. (*Id.* at p. 356.)

On appeal, "the People concede[] the admission of the testimony that a nontestifying eyewitness told the police who had been present at the murder violated the Confrontation Clause, unless the door was opened to that testimony by the defense counsel's questioning of witnesses." (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at p. 356.) The court held that it could be.

In particular, the court explained that, "[i]f evidence barred under the Confrontation Clause were inadmissible irrespective of a defendant's actions at trial, then a defendant could attempt to delude a jury by selectively revealing only those details of a testimonial statement that are potentially helpful to the defense, while concealing from the jury other details that would tend to explain the portions introduced and place them in context." (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at p. 357, internal quotation marks omitted.) "To avoid such unfairness and to preserve the truth-seeking goals of our courts [citation to *Street*, *supra*, 471 U.S. at p. 415], we hold that the

admission of testimony that violates the Confrontation Clause may be proper if the defendant opened the door to its admission." (*Ibid.*)

Reid hardly stands alone. To the contrary, Reid recognized that a "consensus" of "United States Courts of Appeals have held that 'a defendant can open the door to the admission of evidence otherwise barred by the Confrontation Clause." (Reid, supra, 971 N.E.2d at pp. 356-357, quoting United States v. Lopez-Medina (10th Cir. 2010) 596 F.3d 716, 733 (Lopez-Medina).)

For example, in *Lopez-Medina*, *supra*, 596 F.3d at p. 726, defense counsel cross-examined an officer regarding the substance of certain statements a confidential informant made. On redirect, the prosecutor asked the officer about other statements from the confidential informant. (*Ibid.*) The Tenth Circuit held that defense counsel had opened the door to the officer's redirect testimony. (*Id.* at pp. 730-731.)

The court explained that "[t]he Confrontation Clause is a shield, not a sword." (*Lopez-Medina*, *supra*, 596 F.3d at p. 732.) "Where, as here, defense counsel purposefully and explicitly opens the door on a particular (and otherwise inadmissible) line of questioning, such conduct operates as a limited waiver allowing the government to introduce further evidence on that same topic." (*Id.* at p. 731; see also *Charles v. Thaler* (5th Cir. 2011) 629 F.3d 494, 503 ["Otherwise inadmissible hearsay evidence may be offered to impeach the defendant on a topic to which he has opened the door, and no violation of the Confrontation Clause arises"]; *United States v. Holmes* (8th Cir. 2010) 620 F.3d 836, 843 ["*Crawford* did not change the rule that a defendant can waive his right to confront witnesses by opening the door to the admission of evidence otherwise barred by the Confrontation Clause," internal quotation marks omitted]; *United States v. Acosta* (5th Cir. 2007) 475 F.3d 677, 684-685; *Ko v. Burge* (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 26, 2008, No. 06 Civ. 6826(JGK)) 2008 WL 552629 at pp. *12-13.)

It is not just *Reid* and these federal cases, either. There are also multiple state cases besides *Reid* that have reached the same conclusion.

People v. Rogers (Colo.Ct.App. 2012) 317 P.3d 1280 (Rogers) is particularly instructive. There, the defendant was convicted of unlawful firearm possession after the police found a gun in the back seat of a car in which the defendant and a driver were riding. (Rogers, supra, 317 P.3d at pp. 1281-1282.) The defendant denied the gun was his. (Id. at p. 1282.)

At trial, defense counsel got the arresting officer to testify that the driver admitted handling the gun. (*Rogers*, *supra*, 317 P.3d at p. 1282.) The prosecutor then had the officer explain that the driver also said that the defendant brought the gun with him into the car and threw it in the back seat when the car was pulled over. (*Ibid.*) The court held that, notwithstanding the confrontation clause, defense counsel's examination of the officer "opened the door to the prosecution's redirect examination and the admission of statements implicating defendant." (*Id.* at p. 1284; see also *State v. Fisher* (Kan. 2007) 154 P.3d 455, 481-483; *McClenton v. State* (Tex.Ct.App. 2005) 167 S.W.3d 86, 93-94; *Tinker v. State* (Ala.Crim.App. 2005) 932 So.2d 168, 187-88; *State v. Brooks* (Hawaii Ct.App. 2011) 264 P.3d 40, 51; *Lane v. State* (Ind.Ct.App. 2013) 997 N.E.2d 83, 93.)

In the face of this authority, appellant cites a single contrary case, United States v. Cromer (6th Cir. 2004) 389 F.3d 662 (Cromer). (ABOM 50-52.) Cromer held that, even if a defendant opens the door to the admission of hearsay under the applicable rules of evidence, that does not permit introduction of evidence that the confrontation clause would otherwise exclude. (Cromer, 389 F.3d at pp. 678-679.)

Cromer has been repeatedly criticized and rejected. For example, the Lopez-Medina court carefully examined Cromer before concluding that "[w]e disagree with Cromer." (Lopez-Medina, supra, 596 F.3d at p. 733.) "If the Cromer rule were correct, a defendant would be free to mislead a

jury by introducing only parts of an out-of-court statement, confident that the remainder of the statement could not be introduced because the Confrontation Clause would provide a shield." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Ko v. Burge*, *supra*, 2008 WL 552629 at p. *13.)

The court in Ko v. Burge went even further:

The *Cromer* decision cited no authority for the proposition that a defendant cannot open the door to the admission of evidence otherwise barred by the Confrontation Clause. The decision has not been followed by any other Court of Appeals. It is inconsistent with other cases in which the Supreme Court has held that a defendant's statement, otherwise inadmissible under other constitutional provisions, can be introduced at trial to impeach a defendant's conflicting trial testimony. See, e.g. Michigan v. Harvey, 494 U.S. 344, 351-52 (1990) (statement taken in violation of the Sixth Amendment); Harris v. New York, 401 U.S. 222, 224-25 (1971) (statement taken in violation of the Fifth Amendment). ... [T]here is no basis for concluding that the Confrontation Clause can be used as a shield to allow a jury to be misled, particularly when the Supreme Court has refused to allow other constitutional rights to be used by defendants as a shield for misleading the jury.

(Ko v. Burge, supra, 2008 WL 552629 at p. *13; see also Rogers, supra, 317 P.3d at p. 1283; State v. Brooks, supra, 264 P.3d at p. 52.)

The Court should find *Cromer* unpersuasive for the same reasons other courts have. Instead, consistent with the overwhelming weight of authority, the Court should hold that a defendant can open the door to hearsay testimony that the confrontation clause would otherwise prohibit.

2. Appellant opened the door in this case

Assuming that a defendant can open the door to hearsay evidence, that raises the question of whether appellant did so in this case. The Court should conclude that she did.

The case law has not crystallized a single standard for determining whether a defendant has opened the door to hearsay evidence over her right of confrontation. In *Lopez-Medina*, defense counsel explicitly told the trial court that "I don't care what door we open. If I open up a door, please feel free to drive into it.'" (*Lopez-Medina*, *supra*, 596 F.3d at p. 731.) The court held that, so long as this was a legitimate trial tactic from which the defendant did not dissent, the door was opened. (*Ibid.*) It did not resolve whether the door could be opened through counsel's inadvertence or neglect. (*Ibid.*)

The *Rogers* court concluded that "[a] court may assume that when an attorney fails to comply with relevant procedural rules, the attorney has made a decision to waive defendant's right of confrontation regardless of whether the attorney knew of or understood the rule or its requirements." (*Rogers*, *supra*, 317 P.3d at pp. 1283-1284.) Because "defendant's counsel introduced the driver's hearsay statement ... to elicit evidence that the driver knew of the gun and had tried to conceal it," which was "a strategic trial tactic designed to shift the jury's attention to the driver and away from defendant," the door was opened. (*Id.* at p. 1284; compare *United States v. Holmes*, *supra*, 620 F.3d at p. 844 [finding that defense counsel had not opened the door].)

Reid used a two-step test to deciding if the door was opened:

(1) whether, and to what extent, the evidence or argument said to open the door is incomplete and misleading and (2) what, if any, otherwise inadmissible evidence is reasonably necessary to correct the misleading impression. (Reid, supra, 971 N.E.2d at p. 357.)

Respondent proposes that the Court adopt *Reid*'s test. Specifically, if defense counsel offers hearsay evidence that is incomplete or misleading, then the door is opened for the prosecution to submit otherwise inadmissible evidence that is reasonably necessary to correct the misleading impression.

Even if, however, the Court were to use the *Lopez-Medina* test – i.e., defense counsel must make an intentional, strategic decision to introduce hearsay evidence – or to graft its requirements onto the *Reid* test, it would make no difference here. Either way, the Court should find that appellant's testimony about Thomas's alleged statements to her opened the door to the prosecutor's rebuttal evidence of Thomas's statements to the police.

To begin with, appellant's door-opening testimony did not come in through some inadvertent mistake. Defense counsel was on notice that, depending on how appellant testified, the prosecution might seek introduction of Thomas's police statements. (1 RT 18-19.) Yet counsel deliberately asked appellant question after question about what Thomas told her regarding the murder:

- Did he tell you what happened? (2 RT 323.)
- And what else did he tell you after he told you that it would be any easy target? What else did he tell you with respect to what happened in that garage and how Laverna ended up being dead? (2 RT 323-324.)
- Did Julius explain to you that there was a struggle, or what did he explain to you regarding the interaction between Laverna and Julius, which is what caused Julius to kill Laverna? (2 RT 324.)
- Did he tell you that at some point that Laverna was actually alive after he sliced her? (2 RT 324.)
- How did he describe to you that Laverna was alive? What did he say that Laverna was doing? (2 RT 324.)

- And did he say how many times he sliced her with the machete? (2 RT 325.)
- And he mentioned to you that [the machete] was dull?
 (2 RT 325.)
- Where did he say he finished what he started? What part of her body did Julius slice Laverna? Did he tell you? (2 RT 325.)

Furthermore, there was a manifest tactical reason for having appellant testify that Thomas admitted sole responsibility for – and described to her in detail – Brown's murder. Namely, defense counsel wanted to shift the blame to Thomas alone.

But, once defense counsel elicited this testimony from appellant, the jury had an incomplete and misleading understanding of Thomas's out-of-court statements. Without Detective Wheeler's rebuttal testimony, the jurors would have been left with the impression that the statements recounted by appellant – which implicated Thomas and no one else – were the only statements that Thomas made about the crime.

Simply put, a defendant should not be able to selectively reveal a witness's helpful out-of-court statements while concomitantly concealing the witness's other out-of-court statements on the same topic. (*Reid*, *supra*, 971 N.E.2d at p. 357.) To hold otherwise would sew unfairness and pervert the "truth-seeking goals" of our criminal justice system. (*Ibid*.)

Indeed, it is not hard to imagine the consequences of allowing a defendant to hide behind the confrontation clause in a situation like this. The defendant would have carte blanche to testify that any unavailable witness took credit for the crime, and there would be nothing the prosecution could do about it. (*Chambers v. Mississippi* (1973) 410 U.S. 284, 300-302 [holding that a defendant has the right to present evidence that another person admitted guilt]; *People v. Spriggs* (1964) 60 Cal.2d 868,

875-876 [same]; Evid. Code, § 1230 [hearsay exception for declarations against interest].)

It is, of course, true that a defendant can do exactly this in cases where the prosecution does not have contrary out-of-court statements from the unavailable witness. But that should not bar the prosecution from introducing the witness's contrary out-of-court statements when they do exist. If the defendant elects to take the stand and put words in the mouth of an unavailable witness, then she should not be able to prevent the jury from hearing the rest of that witness's related statements. "The Confrontation Clause is a shield, not a sword." (*Lopez-Medina*, *supra*, 596 F.3d at p. 732.)

Therefore, the Court should hold that, under the circumstances of this case, appellant opened the door to the admission of Thomas's statements to the police when she testified that Thomas described to her how he alone killed Brown. To hold otherwise would only countenance appellant's attempt to delude the jury.

E. Any Error Was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt

Should the Court decide that the admission of Thomas's statements to the police was a violation of appellant's right of confrontation, reversal is not automatically required. Confrontation clause violations are subject to federal harmless-error analysis under *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24. (*People v. Bryant* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 335, 395.) The reviewing court asks whether it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have reached the same verdict absent the error. (*Ibid.*)

Here, the Court should find that any error was harmless. Even without Thomas's police statements, there was a mountain of physical and circumstantial evidence establishing that appellant and Thomas killed Brown together.

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